
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF SOUTH CAROLINA 
 

CHARLESTON COUNTY DIVISION 
 
Laura Jenkins Thompson, Frances Messina 
Jones, and Leslie Suzanne Peterson, d/b/a 
Little Memories Smocking Designs, 
 

Plaintiffs, 
 
  vs. 
 
Maria Elena Designs, Inc., Kids by M.E., 
Inc., and Maria Elena Marcus, 
 

Defendants. 
 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Civil Action No.   
 
 
 
 
 

COMPLAINT 
(Jury Trial Demanded) 

 )  
  
 The Plaintiffs, Laura Jenkins Thompson ("Thompson"), Frances Messina Jones ("Jones"), 

and Leslie Suzanne Peterson, d/b/a Little Memories Smocking Designs, ("Peterson") 

(collectively "Plaintiffs"), complaining of Defendants herein, allege:  

JURISDICTION 

1. This is an action related to infringement of copyrights arising under the Federal 

Copyright Act, 17 U.S.C. § 501, and for appropriate injunctive relief.  This court is vested with 

jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter of the action under 28 U.S.C. § 1338(a) and 

28 U.S.C. § 1331. 

2. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the claims in this Complaint which 

arise under state statutory and common law pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a), since the state law 

claims are so related to the federal claims that they form part of the same case or controversy and 

derive from a common nucleus of operative facts. 

VENUE 



3. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b).  Upon information 

and belief, the infringing goods that are the subject of this litigation were distributed and offered 

for distribution in the District of South Carolina; and the claims alleged in this action arose in the 

District of South Carolina. 

PARTIES 

4. Thompson, an individual and resident of Charleston, South Carolina, is a designer 

of smocking patterns for children's clothing, and does substantial business in this district. 

5. Jones, an individual and resident of Charleston, South Carolina, is a designer of 

smocking patterns for children's clothing, and does substantial business in this district. 

6. Peterson, an individual and resident of Ft. Worth, Texas, is a designer of 

smocking patterns for children's clothing, and does substantial business in this district. 

7. Little Memories Smocking Designs ("Little Memories") is a Texas sole 

proprietorship organized and existing under the laws of the State of Texas.  Little Memories is 

owned and operated by Peterson in her business selling smocking designs for children's clothing.  

Little Memories does substantial business in this district.  

8. Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and on that basis allege, that Maria Elena 

Designs, Inc. is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Florida and 

transacts business within the State of South Carolina.   In so doing, it has purposefully availed 

itself of the of the privileges of conducting business activities within South Carolina and making 

profits from the citizens of South Carolina, thus invoking the benefits and protection of the laws 

and procedures of the District of South Carolina. 

9. Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and on that basis allege, that Kids by M.E., 

Inc. is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Florida and transacts 
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business within the State of South Carolina.   In so doing, it has purposefully availed itself of the 

of the privileges of conducting business activities within South Carolina and making profits from 

the citizens of South Carolina, thus invoking the benefits and protection of the laws and 

procedures of the District of South Carolina. 

10. Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and on that basis allege, that Defendant Maria 

Elena Marcus, an individual, transacts substantial business within the State of South Carolina, 

and is and at all relevant times was an owner, officer, agent, and/or employee of Maria Elena 

Designs, Inc., and Kids by M.E., Inc. 

11. Defendant Maria Elena Marcus, an individual, as an owner, officer, agent, and/or 

employee of Maria Elena Designs, Inc., and Kids by M.E., Inc., is individually liable for their 

infringing activities as described herein.  

12. Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and on that basis allege, that at all relevant 

times Defendant Maria Elena Marcus personally participated in and/or had the ability and right 

to supervise, direct, and control the infringing activities alleged herein. 

13. Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and on that basis allege that Defendant Maria 

Elena Marcus derived direct financial benefits from the infringing activities alleged herein. 

FACTS

14. Smocking is an embroidery technique which creates many closely-gathered fabric 

pleats, similar to the pleats in an accordion.  Smocking plates are templates that allow the user to 

create designs using thread and other materials on the pleats of smocked fabric. 

Laura Jenkins Thompson 

15. Thompson is a well-known designer, author, and teacher in the sewing industry.  

She has been creating original smocking plate designs for use on clothing for over twenty years. 
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16. Thompson is the author of, and the owner of the registered copyrights in, her 

numerous smocking plate designs, including the registered copyrights in the following designs: 

"Soldier Bears," "O'Tannenbaum," "Michael's Menagerie," "Happy Birthday," and "Tommy's 

Dalmatians."  These five designs were registered as a collection with the United States Copyright 

Office (Reg. No. TX0003070639).  Copies of these five designs are attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

17. In late 2005, Thompson discovered that Defendants were producing and 

distributing children's clothing that bore her registered designs without her consent.  A sample of 

some of these infringing articles is attached hereto as Exhibit B. 

18. Though Thompson repeatedly notified Defendants of their infringing conduct and 

demanded the immediate cessation of such conduct, Defendants upon information and belief 

knowingly and intentionally continued to produce and distribute clothing bearing Thompson's 

original smocking designs.  

19. Upon information and belief, Defendants offered products for sale featuring 

Thompson's original smocking designs as recently as the January 2006 Atlanta Children's 

Market.  Those products were displayed with tags having been removed in an apparent attempt to 

conceal the manufacturer of the clothing.   

20. As of September 2, 2008, infringing articles manufactured by Defendants bearing 

Thompson's registered "Happy Birthday" smocking design can be purchased on the website, 

www.bestdressedchild.com.  Printouts of the web pages on the website, 

www.bestdressedchild.com, on which such infringing articles can be found are attached hereto as 

Exhibit C. 
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Francis Messina Jones

21. Jones is a nationally-recognized smocking plate designer who speaks and teaches 

regularly to audiences about her original smocking designs.  Jones markets and sells her 

smocking designs across the country.   

22. Jones is the author of, and the owner of registered copyrights in, her numerous 

smocking plate designs, including the registered copyrights in the following designs: "Make a 

Ladybug Wish," "Precious Poodles," and "Let’s Go Buggy."  These three designs were registered 

as a collection with the United States Copyright Office (Reg. No. VAu000665634).  Copies of 

these three designs are attached hereto as Exhibit D.   

23. Upon information and belief, Defendants offered products featuring Jones' 

original smocking designs for sale at the Atlanta Children's Market in November 2005 without 

Jones' consent, and continued to offer the products in their Fall/Winter 2005 catalog, at which 

time the infringement was discovered.  A sample of these infringing articles is attached hereto as 

Exhibit E. 

24. Defendants offered these infringing products for sale in stores in Mount Pleasant, 

Columbia, Greenville, and Georgetown, South Carolina, as well as other stores nationwide. 

25. Though Jones notified Defendants of their infringing conduct and demanded the 

immediate cessation of such conduct, Defendants upon information and belief knowingly and 

intentionally continued to produce and distribute clothing bearing Jones' original smocking 

designs.  

Leslie Suzanne Peterson/Little Memories

26. Peterson, d/b/a Little Memories, creates, sells and distributes original smocking 

plate designs.     
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27. Peterson is the author of, and the owner of the registered copyrights in, over 160 

smocking plate designs, including the registered copyrights in the following designs: "Pony 

Tales," "T'was the Nite," "Holiday Handymen," "I'm Stuffed," "Boo To You," "Fly Byes," and 

"Ho Ho Ho."  "Pony Tails" and "Holiday Handymen" were registered as a collection with the 

United States Copyright Office (Reg. No. VA0000489607), as were "T'was the Nite" (Reg. No. 

VA0001330991), "Boo To You" (Reg. No. VA0001310518), and "Fly Byes" (Reg. No. 

VA0001308613).  "I'm Stuffed" and "Ho Ho Ho" were also registered a collection (Reg. No. 

VA0001308612).  Copies of these seven designs are attached hereto as Exhibit F.  

28. Defendants have produced and distributed children's clothing that bears Peterson's 

registered smocking designs without her consent. A sample of these infringing articles is 

attached hereto as Exhibit G.  Upon information and belief, Defendants have used at least 40 of 

Peterson's registered smocking designs on children's clothing without her consent. 

29.   Though Peterson notified Defendants of their infringing conduct and demanded 

the immediate cessation of such conduct, Defendants upon information and belief knowingly and 

intentionally continue to produce and distribute clothing bearing Peterson's original smocking 

designs. 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
[Copyright Infringement–17 U.S.C. § 501, et seq.] 

30. Plaintiffs reallege, and incorporate by this reference, each and every allegation set 

forth in paragraphs 1 through 29, inclusive. 

31. Plaintiffs are the sole owners of all right, title, and interest in and to the copyrights 

in their original smocking plate designs. 
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32. Defendants have willfully infringed Plaintiffs' copyrights by copying, displaying, 

offering for sale or distribution, and selling and distributing, without any authorization from 

Plaintiffs, clothing bearing infringing copies of Plaintiffs' designs. 

33. As a result of the foregoing activities, Defendants are liable to Plaintiffs for 

willful copyright infringement.  17 U.S.C. § 501.  Plaintiffs have suffered, and will continue to 

suffer, substantial damage to their business reputation and goodwill, as well as losses in an 

amount not yet ascertained, but which will be determined according to proof.  In addition to 

Plaintiffs' actual damages, Plaintiffs are entitled to receive the profits made by Defendants from 

their wrongful acts, pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 504.  In the alternative, Plaintiffs are entitled to 

statutory damages pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 504(c) and these statutory damages should be 

enhanced in accordance with 17 U.S.C. § 504(c)(2) because of Defendants’ willful copyright 

infringement. 

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
[Unfair Trade Practices—S.C. Code Ann. § 39-5-10 et seq.] 

34. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by this reference each and every allegation set 

forth in paragraphs 1 through 33, inclusive.   

35. The acts and conduct of the Defendants alleged herein constitute deceptive and 

otherwise unfair trade practices in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 39-5-10 et seq. (the South 

Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act). 

36. The acts and conduct of the Defendants alleged herein adversely affect the 

public's interest and are capable of repetition. 

37. The Defendants' actions are a willful and knowing violation of § 39-5-10 et seq., 

with disregard for the rights of Plaintiffs and the public interest. 
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38. As a direct result of the Defendants’ unfair trade practices, Plaintiffs have been 

injured and damaged, and are entitled to recover treble damages, costs, and attorney's fees. 

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
[Constructive Trust] 

39. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by this reference each and every allegation set 

forth in paragraphs 1 through 38, inclusive.  

40. By reason of the acts and conduct set forth herein, Defendants have engaged and 

are engaged in deceptive, fraudulent and wrongful conduct in the nature of using Plaintiffs' 

registered designs without Plaintiffs' consent.  Plaintiffs believe that Defendants maintain the 

illegal profits from their actions, all of which belong to Plaintiffs. 

41. By virtue of their wrongful acts, Defendants hold such illegal profits as 

constructive trustees for the benefit of Plaintiffs. 

42. Plaintiffs are not presently aware of where the Defendants may have deposited all 

of their illegal profits from Defendants’ wrongful acts against Plaintiffs and the public.  Plaintiffs 

believe that Defendants' illegal profits, whether in the form of bank accounts or in the form of 

real or personal property, will eventually be traced.  Plaintiffs therefore believe that Defendants 

hold such illegal profits as constructive trustees for the benefit of Plaintiffs. 

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
[Accounting] 

43. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by this reference each and every allegation set 

forth in paragraphs 1 through 42, inclusive. 

44. Plaintiffs are entitled pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 504 to any profits of Defendants 

that are attributable to their acts of infringement. 
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45. Plaintiffs are entitled pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 504 to actual damages or statutory 

damages sustained by virtue of Defendants’ acts of infringement. 

46. The amount of money due from Defendants to Plaintiffs is unknown to Plaintiffs 

and cannot be ascertained without an accounting of the number of units of infringing goods 

distributed and sold by Defendants, as well as an accounting of the gross profits, royalties and 

net profits derived therefrom. 

PRAYER 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs request judgment as follows: 
 

  (1) That the Court issue injunctive relief against Defendants, including any 

officers, agents, representatives, servants, employees, attorneys, successors and assigns, and all 

others in active concert or participation with Defendants, enjoining and restraining them from: 

 (a) making any further infringing use or infringing distribution of 

Plaintiffs' copyrighted designs;  

 (b) permitting or licensing to others the right to use, distribute or sell 

Plaintiffs' copyrighted designs;  

   (c) engaging in any other activity constituting an infringement of 

Plaintiffs' copyrights; and  

   (e) disposing of or destroying any documents, as defined by the 

Federal Civil Rules of Procedure, that indicate, reference, or otherwise evidence that Defendants 

or any Defendant has marketed, manufactured, distributed, advertised, sold or permitted the sale 

of  Plaintiffs' copyrighted designs or which evidence the revenues, monies, profits and royalties 

paid and received therefrom. 
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  (2) That the Court issues an Order for the destruction or other reasonable 

disposition of all copies of the infringing products, including any smocking plates used in the 

manufacture of such infringing products.  17 U.S.C. § 503. 

  (3) That the Court enters a judgment against Defendants that they have: 

  (a) willfully infringed Plaintiffs' rights in their registered copyrights; 

and 

   (b) competed unfairly with Plaintiffs under S.C. Code Ann. § 39-5-10 

et seq., the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act, and in so doing have willfully violated 

that Act.   

  (4) That the Court enters a monetary judgment against the Defendants, jointly 

and severally, based on the following damages, attorney’s fees and costs:  

(a) Plaintiffs’ damages and Defendants' profits pursuant to 17 U.S.C. 

§ 504(b) without deductions from profits based upon Defendants' willful infringement of 

Plaintiffs' copyrights; 

(b) Plaintiffs' actual damages, trebled for willful violation, pursuant to 

the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act, S.C. Code § 39-5-10 et seq.;  

(c) the costs of this action; 

(d) the attorneys’ fees incurred in the prosecution of this action. 

   (5) Such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

 
 
 

 
[SIGNATURE BLOCK ON FOLLOWING PAGE] 

 

 10



Respectfully submitted, 
 

 NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH, L.L.P. 
 
 

By:  s/Janene B. Smith               
  John C. McElwaine 
  Federal Bar No. 6710 
  Email address: john.mcelwaine@nelsonmullins.com 
  Janene B. Smith 
  Federal Bar No. 9960 
  Email address: janene.smith@nelsonmullins.com 
  Liberty Building, Suite 500 
  151 Meeting Street 
  Post Office Box 1806 (29402) 
  Charleston, SC  29401 

(843) 853-5200 
 

 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
 
 

Charleston, South Carolina 
September 4, 2008 
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